IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

JUSTIN D. BAILEY,

Appellant,

v.

MAYFLOWER VEHICLE SYSTEMS, INC.,  
a corporation, d/b/a South Charleston  
Stamping and Manufacturing,

Appellee,

BRIEF ON BEHALF OF

## **II. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The appellant, Justin D. Bailey, was employed by South Charleston Stamping and Manufacturing as a manufacturing associate and team leader beginning in August of 1991. (Tr., Vol.1, pp. 69-72) The appellant first injured his neck, right shoulder and arm while working at South Charleston Stamping and Manufacturing in June of 1994. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 76) As a result of this

injury, the appellant filed a workers' compensation claim for payment of his medical bills. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 79) Due to this injury, the appellant was initially taken off work for four days by the emergency room doctor and then returned back to work. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 80)

On June 6, 1995, the appellant re-injured his neck, right shoulder and arm while working for the appellee. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 81-86) As a result of this injury, the appellant filed a second claim with Workers' Compensation. (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 2) Due to this injury, the appellant was initially off work approximately nine days. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 87)

In February of 1996, the appellant returned to his treating physician, Dr. Thomas Dannals, due to stiffness in his neck and numbness in his arm. Dr. Dannals took the appellant off work at that time and prescribed muscle relaxers, pain medication and physical therapy. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 93-94)

On March 29, 1996, the appellant completed a claim reopening application requesting that his workers' compensation claim be reopened for the periods of June 6, 1995 to June 14, 1995 and from February 27, 1996 to the present. The attending physician's section of the claim reopening application was completed by Dr. Thomas Dannals on April 1, 1996. Dr. Dannals listed present diagnoses of cervical strain with right arm pain and right CTS. Dr. Dannals reported the appellant's present complaints of right shoulder and right upper extremity pain, stiffness and right hand numbness radiating up to elbow. (Plaintiff's Exhibit No.3) After filing the reopening application with Workers' Compensation, the appellant began receiving benefits every two weeks beginning in May of 1996. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 98-100)

In September of 1996, the appellant attempted to get a prescription for Zantac filled at which time the pharmacy told him that his prescription card was inactive. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 102) The next day he received a letter from the Assistant Human Resource Manager for the appellee stating that his

employment with the appellee was being terminated effective September 5, 1996 because his absence had exceeded the maximum allowable by plant policy. (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 4) After receiving the letter, the appellant called the plant and talked to Bob Vickers to whom he explained that he had given them information that he was off on comp due to his neck, shoulder and arm. At that time, Mr. Vickers made a comment that a "tummy ache" is not a plant related illness. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 103) On September 23, 1996, a letter was mailed by the appellee's Personnel Coordinator to the appellant notifying him that his employment had been reinstated as of September 5, 1996. (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 5)

In December of 1996, the appellant was seen by Dr. Kroening for an evaluation pursuant to the request of the appellant's workers' compensation claims representative. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 106) After the examination by Dr. Kroening, the appellant received a letter from his claims representative dated January 17, 1997 indicating that his claim had been reviewed and that it was felt he needed further services which would help him return to employment. The appellant was further advised that he had been referred to D. R. S. and that a rehabilitation counselor would contact him to schedule an appointment. (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 6) After seeing Dr. Kroening, the appellant also received a letter from Workers' Compensation granting him a permanent partial disability award. The appellant continued to receive benefits from Workers' Compensation up to April of 1997. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 107)

On February 19, 1997, a letter was sent to the appellant by the appellee's Assistant Human Resource Manager indicating that they had received information from Workers' Compensation from Dr. Kroening dated 12-11-96 which indicated that he had reached maximum medical improvement from his injury and that his TTD has been suspended. The letter further requested the appellant to report to the plant by March 5, 1997, with a list of restrictions, if any, and a return to work date.

(Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 7) After receiving the letter, the appellant called the plant and spoke with the Assistant Human Resource Manager at which time he told her that he didn't have a return date from his doctor and that he didn't have any list of restrictions because the doctor hadn't yet released him to come back to work. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 109)

After receiving the letter from the appellee in February of 1997, the appellant continued to receive treatment from Dr. Dannals. In addition, the appellant was referred to Dr. Ignatiadis regarding the possibility of surgery. Dr. Ignatiadis wanted a further MRI to see what might be the matter with the appellant's shoulder. At that time, Dr. Ignatiadis also talked about work hardening as an option before surgery. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 109-110)

On June 10, 1997, the appellant completed another workers' compensation claim reopening application requesting additional temporary total disability benefits for the periods of December 16, 1996 to March 23, 1997 and March 24, 1997 to September 10, 1997. The physician's portion of the form was again completed by Dr. Thomas Dannals on June 10, 1997. Dr. Dannals listed present diagnoses of impingement syndrome of the right shoulder, C6/7 radiculopathy, and carpal tunnel syndrome. Dr. Dannals noted that the appellant was significantly restricted in his functional abilities and that the period of temporary total disability for the appellant was February 28, 1996 to September 10, 1997. (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 8)

In November of 1997, the appellant began work hardening at Associated Physical Therapy. He attended work hardening for a period of three or four days but then stopped because Workers' Compensation denied payment for the work hardening program, and the appellant could not afford to pay for it on his own. Thereafter, the physical therapist gave the appellant a pump traction

machine, a therapy ball, and a styrofoam roll with instructions for exercises that the appellant could do at home. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 115-117)

On May 26, 1998, the appellant received a certified letter dated May 22, 1998 from Tonya Rae Trembly, Benefits Coordinator for the appellee. The letter noted that the appellant's claim was closed on a temporary total disability basis on February 10, 1997 based upon the December 11, 1996 evaluation of Dr. John Kroening. Ms. Trembly requested the appellant to contact her to discuss his employment with South Charleston Stamping and Manufacturing and further stated "if we do not hear from you within the next ten days, we will have no alternative but to assume you have voluntarily resigned your employment." (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 10) After receiving the letter, the appellant counted ten days beginning with the date he received the letter on May 26, 1998. The appellant then attempted to contact his attorney but was unable to do so because the attorney was on vacation that week. On the morning of June 3, 1998, the appellant talked to his attorney and then called the appellee's plant. At that time, the appellant left voice mail messages for Janna Dawson and Julian O'Dell. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 128-130)

After calling the plant, the appellant received a letter in his mail from Julian O'Dell, the Human Resource Manager for the appellee dated June 2, 1998 stating that by his failure to contact Tonya Trembly by June 1, 1998 that the appellant had voluntarily quit his job and was terminated as of June 1, 1998. (Plaintiff's Exhibit No.12)

After receiving the letter, the appellant called the plant again at which time he spoke with Janna Dawson and Julian O'Dell. At that time, he explained that it had not been ten days since he received the May 22, 1998 letter and that he was calling them to update them. The appellant then

asked whether he had been fired and Julian O'Dell said that yes he had been terminated. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 131-133)

At the time the appellant received the letter from the appellee on May 26, 1998, he was still being treated by Dr. Dannals and had not been released to return back to work. At that time, the appellant was also continuing to do work conditioning at home. Although the appellant was able to do more things, he was still hurting and having pain. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 133-134)

On October 6, 1998, the appellant was released by Dr. Dannals to return back to work. On that day, the appellant called the appellee's Human Resource Manager, Julian O'Dell, and asked him about returning to work. Mr. O'Dell said that he wasn't familiar with what the appellant was talking to him about, and the appellant told him that he had been off work injured and was trying to see if he could come back to work. Mr. O'Dell asked the appellant if the injury had been comp related and when the appellant told him yes, Mr. O'Dell said that he would have to refer it to the person who takes care of comp and get back with the appellant. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 135-138)

The appellant attempted to contact Mr. O'Dell again on October 7, October 8, October 12, and October 13, 1998 and left messages on Mr. O'Dell's voice mail. On October 16, 1998, the appellant called Mr. O'Dell again and was finally able to talk to him. At that time, Mr. O'Dell said that he still did not have a decision for the appellant but that he had talked to his people and they were supposed to get in touch with them at Workers' Compensation to find out about his workers' compensation claim. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 138-142)

The appellant did not hear anything back from Mr. O'Dell between October 16 and October 26, 1998 so he called on October 26 and left a message on his voice mail. On October 27, 1998, the

appellant called and talked to Tonya Trembly. At that time, Ms. Trembly told the appellant that they had a form that they needed the doctor to fill out about his release. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 142-143)

On October 29, 1998, Ms. Trembly mailed a physician's report form to the appellant and requested the appellant to have his treating physician to complete the form and return it to her. (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 13) After receiving the letter, the appellant took the physician's report form to his doctor's office to be filled out. After receiving the report back which was signed by Dr. Dannals on November 8, 1998, the appellant mailed the form to the appellee's plant. (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 15)

The appellant called the plant again on November 27, 1998 at which time there wasn't anybody working. The appellant then called again on November 30, 1998 and left messages for Tonya Trembly and Julian O'Dell. When the appellant talked to Tonya Trembly, she told him that the form was incomplete and that there were some questions that the doctor had not answered. At that time, the appellant asked if he could have the doctor to fax answers to the questions that were not answered on the form. After the appellant contacted his doctor's office, a handwritten note dated November 30, 1998 was faxed to the plant. This note stated that the appellant could work without restrictions, has had physical therapy and rest for carpal tunnel syndrome and C6-C7 root dysfunction related to accident 6/6/95. (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 16)

On December 4, 1998 the appellant received a telephone call from Mr. O'Dell at which time Mr. O'Dell told him that they had a position to offer him but that it wasn't the team leader position he was doing when he was hurt. At that time, Mr. O'Dell told the appellant that he wanted him to take a functional capacity test and that he wanted him to get in touch with Jamie at Benefit Assistance to try to straighten out some bills that were charged to insurance and they believed should

have been paid by Workers' Comp. At no time between October 6, 1998 and December 4, 1998 did Mr. O'Dell or Ms. Trembly mention to the appellant that he would have to have a functional capacity evaluation in order to be able to return to work. The appellant then called Mr. O'Dell back on December 4, 1998 and told him that he would accept the position at the plant that they were offering, that he would do the functional capacity test, and that he would try again to deal with the bills that they believed were workers' comp. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 151-155)

On December 17, 1998, a letter was mailed to the appellant from Mr. O'Dell. The letter stated that they did not have a team leader position available but that they may, pending the resolution of identified issues, be able to return the appellant to a Manufacturing Associate position. The letter further stated that they had scheduled a functional capacity evaluation at The Workability Center in Ashland, Kentucky on December 22, 1998. (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 17)

On December 30, 1998, the appellant underwent a functional capacity evaluation at The Workability Center. (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 18) Based upon the evaluation, the examiner stated that the appellant qualifies for the very heavy work category within the restricted work plane and the heavy work category within the unrestricted work planes. After undergoing the functional capacity evaluation, the appellant called Tonya Trembly on January 11, 1999 at which time she said that they had not received anything back on the functional capacity test. The appellant called Ms. Trembly again on January 22, 1999 and left a message on Ms. Trembly's voice mail. The appellant then called again on February 3, 1999 at which time he spoke to Ms. Trembly and she told him that they still hadn't received the report from the functional capacity exam. At that time, the appellant asked Ms. Trembly if they were going to need something else after they received the results of the functional capacity evaluation. Ms. Trembly told him that he would have to talk to Mr. O'Dell to

answer his question if he was going to get the job they offered him if the evaluation comes back satisfactory. The appellant then talked to Mr. O'Dell who told him that they'd have to wait until they got the report. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 161-163)

After talking to Ms. Trembly and Mr. O'Dell on February 3, 1999, the appellant called The Workability Center and was told that they had sent the plant a copy of the functional capacity evaluation. The appellant asked them if he could come down there and pick up a copy of the evaluation and take it to them and they responded that he could. The appellant then went to The Workability Center and got a copy of the report. He then called Ms. Trembly and asked her if she needed him to bring the report to her, and she said that it wouldn't do any good because Diane McCoy was the person who was going to look at the evaluation and evaluate the form. The appellant then called Ms. McCoy who advised him that she had received their copy of the evaluation. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp 159-160, 163-164)

The appellant called the plant again on February 9, 1999 and left a message for Ms. Trembly. He did not receive a call back from her and called again on February 22, 1999. At that time he spoke with Ms. Trembly who told him that they had received the report but that she had not had a chance to talk to Mr. O'Dell yet. The appellant asked to speak to Mr. O'Dell and was transferred to his voice mail at which time the appellant left a message for Mr. O'Dell to call him. The appellant then called the plant again on March 9, 1999 at which time Mr. O'Dell told the appellant that Ms. Trembly wasn't there and that he needed to talk to her to find out where they were on whatever decision they were going to make. Mr. O'Dell told the appellant that he needed to find out if he had a release from comp and the appellant told him that he had had a release since October 6. The appellant then called back for Ms. Trembly on March 10, 1999 at which time he left a message on

her voice mail and requested that she be paged. Later that day, Ms. Trembly called the appellant back and said that she didn't have any more information from Mr. O'Dell who wasn't there and that she needed to get some information from the attorneys. The appellant called Ms. Trembly again on March 11, 1999 at which time Ms. Trembly said she still didn't have the information from the attorneys and that she would have Mr. O'Dell contact him when they had gotten whatever they needed to do out of the way. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp 164-168)

On May 10, 1999, a letter was sent from Julian O'Dell, HR Manager of the appellee to the appellant. In this letter, Mr. O'Dell indicated that the appellant had completed a FCE at The Workability Center in December of 1998 and that the results of the FCE had been reviewed to determine if the appellant was capable of doing the job of a Manufacturing Associate. The letter also noted that the appellant had been asked to contact Jamie Morrison of Benefit Assistance regarding medical bills paid by Benefit Assistance that should have been billed to and paid by West Virginia Workers' Compensation. The letter requested the appellant to contact Mr. O'Dell to schedule an appointment to discuss the issues. The letter further stated "at this point in time, you are not employed by SCSM nor are we promising that we will return you to work here." (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 19)

After receiving this letter, the appellant called Mr. O'Dell on May 14, 1999. At that time the appellant left a message on Mr. O'Dell's voice mail asking him to call him back regarding the letter. The appellant called three times again on May 17, 1999 and left messages with Mr. O'Dell. On May 18, 1999, the appellant called Mr. O'Dell two times and left voice mail messages. The appellant then called on May 19, 1999 and again left Mr. O'Dell a message on the voice mail. (Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 171-174)

On June 1, 1999, the appellant mailed a certified letter to Mr. O'Dell responding to Mr. O'Dell's letter of May 14, 1999. In this letter, the appellant stated the number of times that he had called and left messages including his telephone number on Mr. O'Dell's voice mail. The appellant indicated in his letter that he had passed the FCE at The Workability Center and had done everything that Mr. O'Dell and Ms. Trembly had asked him to do. The appellant indicated that he could not afford these long distance calls and requested Mr. O'Dell to contact him to schedule the appointment for him to meet with Mr. O'Dell at SCSM. (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 20)

### **III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

A. The Circuit Court erred in granting the defendant's Motion for Judgment as a matter of law regarding plaintiff's claim under West Virginia Code Section 23-5A-1.

B. The Circuit Court erred in granting the defendant's Motion for Judgment as a matter of law regarding plaintiff's claim under West Virginia Code Section 23-5A-3(a).

C. The Circuit Court erred in granting the defendant's Motion for Judgment as a matter of law regarding plaintiff's claim under West Virginia Code Section 23-5A-3(b).

### **IV. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES RELIED UPON**

#### **Statutes**

West Virginia Code Section 23-5A-1.

West Virginia Code Section 23-5A-3(a).

West Virginia Code Section 23-5A-3(b).

## Cases

Blake v. John Skidmore Truck Stop, Inc., 201 W.Va. 126, 493 S.E.2d 887 (1997).

Gardner v. CSX Transp., Inc., 201 W.Va. 490, 498 S.E.2d 473 (1997)

Jones v. Patterson Contracting, Inc. 206 W.Va. 399, 524 S.E.2d 915 (1999).

Kessel v. Leavitt, 204 W.Va. 95, 511 S.E.2d 720, (1998) certiorari denied 119 S.Ct. 1035, 525 U.S. 1142, 143 L.Ed.2d 43.

Kiser v Caudill, 210 W.Va. 191, 557 S.E.2d 245 (2001).

Louk v. Isuzu Motors, Inc., 198 W.Va. 250, 479 S.E.2d 911 (1996).

McCloud v. Salt Rock Water Public Services Dist., 207 W.Va. 453, 553 S.E.2d 679 (2000).

Powell v. Wyoming Cabelvision, Inc., 184 W.Va. 700, 403 S.E.2d 717 (1991).

Radec, Inc. v. Mountaineer Coal Development Co., 210 W.Va. 1, 552 S.E.2d 377 (2000), certiorari denied 121 S.Ct. 2550, 533 U.S. 929, 150 L.Ed.2d 717.

Sayre v. Roop, 205 W.Va. 193, 517 S.E.2d 290 (1999).

Stewart v. Johnson, 209 W.Va. 476, 549 S.E.2d 670 (2001).

Wooton v. Roberts, 205 W.Va. 404, 518 S.E.2d 645, (1999), certiorari denied 120 S.Ct. 937, 528 U.S. 1117, 145 L.Ed.2d 815.

## V. DISCUSSION OF LAW

Upon a motion for judgment as a matter of law for the defendant, every reasonable and legitimate inference fairly arising from the testimony, when considered in its entirety, must be indulged in favorably to plaintiff, and the court must assume as true those facts which the jury may properly find under the evidence. Stewart v. Johnson, 209 W.Va. 476, 549 S.E.2d 670 (2001);

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