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

Further, Mr. Bailey admitted that at the time of his termination, eighteen months after he had reached his maximum degree of medical improvement, he was unsure when, if ever, he would be able to return to work. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 72). For its part, SCSM inquired numerous times as to Mr. Bailey's condition and ability to return to work. However, it became obvious that the period of Mr. Bailey's disability was not determinable. Accordingly, SCSM terminated Mr. Bailey's employment.

Mr. Bailey's termination is consistent with the principle of law enunciated in *Powell* that "if an employee is disabled on the job and is no longer qualified to perform the duties of his or her job, an employer may terminate that employee when it becomes obvious that the period of disability is not determinable." 403 S.E.2d at 723 (quoting *Kern v. South Baltimore General Hospital*, 504 A.2d 1154 (Md.App. 1986)).

In fact, Mr. Bailey's absences from work totaled in excess of 800 days since the date he last worked for SCSM at the time of his termination. Such a period of time far outdistances the 249 days of absences before termination cited in the *Powell* case as an example of an amount of time too great to support a charge of discrimination. *Id.* (citing *Kern*, 504 A.2d 1154)). Further, it had been eighteen months (over 500 days) from the date the plaintiff had reached maximum degree of medical improvement and had stopped receiving temporary total disability benefits, to the date when he was terminated. The Court found that "eighteen months was a sufficient period of time for the employee to notify the employer when he would return to work and demonstrate that he could perform the duties of his employment." Final Order at 3.

Obviously, such a long period of time after an employee's injury to the date of his termination is incapable of supporting an inference of discrimination necessary to support

a prima facie case of workers' compensation discrimination. Further, the Appellant presented no evidence to suggest he was harassed or criticized for filing a workers' compensation claim or receiving benefits. Final Order at 2. The Appellant simply presented no evidence capable of providing the jury with the opportunity to infer discrimination. That is why the Circuit Court found "that no reasonable juror could find that the filing of a worker's compensation claim was a factor in the employer's decision to discharge [the] plaintiff in this case." Final Order at 3.

The Court's finding was clearly correct in light of the evidence and the law, as shown by the above argument. Accordingly, the Appellee's motion for judgment as a matter of law regarding the Appellant's claim under W. Va. Code § 23-5A-1 was properly granted. Therefore, the Circuit Court was guilty of no error, and the Appellant's Appeal should be denied.

Moreover, Plaintiff's claim that he was discriminated against as a former employee is unfounded as well. The instances where the Plaintiff relates that Mayflower's Human Resource Manager, Julian O'Dell, asked whether the Plaintiff's injury was work-related is something any employer would legitimately want to know. As evidenced by the provisions in W. Va. Code §§ 23-5A-1 to 23-5A-3, workers' compensation claimants must be treated differently by their employers. Finally, Mayflower's effort to make sure that Mr. Bailey was fully recovered from his injuries which led to his workers' compensation claim before considering him for employment may not be construed as evidence of discrimination. Accordingly, Appellant's claim under § 23-5A-1 based upon his status as a former employee was properly dismissed by

the Court below. Therefore, the Circuit Court was guilty of no error, and the Appellant's Appeal should be denied.

B. Judgment as a Matter of Law in Favor of the Appellee
Regarding Appellant's Claim Under W. Va. Code 23-5A-3(a) was Proper

The code provides:

§23-5A-3. Termination of injured employee prohibited; re-employment of injured employees.

(a) It shall be a discriminatory practice within the meaning of section one of this article to terminate an injured employee while the injured employee is off work due to a compensable injury within the meaning of article four of this chapter and is receiving or is eligible to receive temporary total disability benefits, unless the injured employee has committed a separate dischargeable offense. A separate dischargeable offense shall mean misconduct by the injured employee wholly unrelated to the injury or the absence from work resulting from the injury. A separate dischargeable offense shall not include absence resulting from the injury or from the inclusion or aggregation of absence due to the injury with any other absence from work.

To be covered under this section, Mr. Bailey must have been receiving or eligible to receive temporary total disability benefits under the worker's compensation statute. In *Rollins*, the court found that the legislature only meant to protect employees who filed workers' compensation claims by providing health care coverage from the date of the injury until the date the worker's compensation benefits were received. 489 S.E.2d at 774 (interpreting W. Va. Code § 23-5A-2). There is no such protection against discrimination after the benefits have been denied or suspended. The same rationale is applicable to cases brought pursuant to W. Va. Code § 23-5A-3(a).

The record is clear that by June 2, 1998, the Appellant was no longer receiving or eligible to receive temporary total disability benefits. In fact, he had been found by the Worker's Compensation Division physician to have reached his maximum degree of medical improvement on December 11, 1996, eighteen months before he was terminated. In fact, at the time of his termination, there was no pending appeal of the determination that Mr. Bailey had reached his maximum degree of medical improvement pending. The following testimony on cross-examination of Mr. Bailey at trial illustrates the information available to SCSM at the time the decision was made to terminate Mr. Bailey:

Q: Okay. And there is another issue. You asked Workers' Comp., after they said that you had reached maximum medical improvement back in December of '96, you filed an appeal on that, didn't you?

A: I don't remember if I filed the appeal. I think what had happened was I didn't understand the Comp. system at the time.

Q: Well, you had an attorney at the time, didn't you?

A: I wasn't going to an attorney regularly. I asked advice from time to time on something that I didn't know, and apparently I would have probably been better off if I had had an attorney to do the whole thing, because I would have know to file the appeal at that time.

Q: Well, the records show that before you lost your job in June of '98 that you appealed it twice.

A: I appealed the reopening.

Q: And you lost it both of those times, right?

A: I believe, yes.

Q: Okay. So not only did Workers' Comp. make a decision in December of '96 that your case was closed, twice more on appeal they said, "That's right. It's closed. It's done." Right?

A: I believe, yes.

Q: So for Julian O'Dell here, who is trying to make a decision in the summer of '98, Workers' Comp. had closed your case, you had appealed it twice, they had said, "No, we're right. It was closed back in '96," and you didn't give him one written document, that is the only information in writing that he had, correct?

A: (No verbal response.)

Q: Are you aware of any other written information that he had?

A: I didn't give him a thing. I didn't know I was supposed to.

Q: You didn't give him a thing, did you?

A: No.

(Tr. Vol. 2, pp. 64-66).

Therefore, at the time of Mr. Bailey's termination, he was not receiving any workers' compensation benefits, he had reached his maximum degree of medical improvement eighteen months prior, his appeals had all been turned down, and SCSM had no information from Mr. Bailey to suggest that he was "eligible to receive temporary total disability benefits." Accordingly, the Court found that "there was no evidence presented indicating that the plaintiff was eligible for temporary total disability benefits at the time of his termination." Final Order at 4.

"The evidence actually presented indicated that the Workers' Compensation Division, a Workers' Compensation Division Administrative Law Judge, and the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board had determined the plaintiff was not eligible for temporary total disability benefits at the time of his termination." Final Order at 5. In fact, at the time of his termination the Appellant had withdrawn his appeal of the order closing his claim for temporary total disability benefits. Finally, a petition to reopen his claim for temporary total disability benefits was denied nearly a year before his termination.

Given the above evidence, it is clear, as the Court found, that "there is no evidence that would permit a reasonably prudent juror to find that at the time of his termination the plaintiff was eligible to receive temporary total disability benefits." Final Order at 5. Accordingly, the Appellee's motion for judgment as a matter of law regarding

the Appellant's claim under W. Va. Code § 23-5A-3(a) was properly granted. Therefore, the Circuit Court was guilty of no error, and the Appellant's Appeal should be denied.

C. Judgment as a Matter of Law in Favor of the Appellee
Regarding Appellant's Claim Under W. Va. Code 23-5A-3(b) was Proper

The code provides:

§23-5A-3. Termination of injured employee prohibited; re-employment of injured employees.

(b) It shall be a discriminatory practice within the meaning of section one of this article for an employer to fail to reinstate an employee who has sustained a compensable injury to the employee's former position of employment upon demand for such reinstatement provided that the position is available and the employee is not disabled from performing the duties of such position. If the former position is not available, the employee shall be reinstated to another comparable position which is available and which the employee is capable of performing. A comparable position for the purposes of this section shall mean a position which is comparable as to wages, working conditions and, to the extent reasonably practicable, duties to the position held at the time of injury. A written statement from a duly licensed physician that the physician approves the injured employee's return to his or her regular employment shall be prima facie evidence that the worker is able to perform such duties. In the event that neither the former position nor a comparable position is available, the employee shall have a right to preferential recall to any job which the injured employee is capable of performing which becomes open after the injured employee notifies the employer that he or she desired reinstatement. Said right of preferential recall shall be in effect for one year from the day the injured employee notifies the employer that he or she desires reinstatement. Provided, that the employee provides the employer a current mailing address during this one year period.

A review of the relevant facts of Mr. Bailey's case make clear that the Court came to the correct conclusion in granting judgment as a matter of law to the Appellee on this

claim. The Circuit Court found that according to the above-quoted provision, a plaintiff bears the burden of proving he is not disabled from performing the duties of his position upon a request for reinstatement. The statute states that “[a] written statement from a duly licensed physician that the physician approves the injured employee’s return to his or her regular employment shall be prima facie evidence that the worker is able to perform such duties.” W. Va. Code § 23-5A-(3(b)). In the present case, Mr. Bailey had his physician write a note, at SCSM’s request, stating that the Appellant had been treated with physical therapy and rest for carpal tunnel syndrome and C6-C7 root dysfunction related to his accident, and could return to work without restriction. (Plaintiff’s Exhibit #16).

Nevertheless, the note says the carpal tunnel syndrome and root dysfunction were “related to accident 6/6/98.” There was no accident on 6/6/98. Furthermore, the Appellant never received workers’ compensation benefits for carpal tunnel syndrome, and Dr. Ignatiadis explicitly stated that the carpal tunnel syndrome was not related to the compensable injury. Dr. Koenig diagnosed the Appellant with degenerative arthritis of the cervical spine, a cervical strain, and nerve entrapment syndrome of his right extremity, which were the injuries for which the Workers’ Compensation Division compensated Mr. Bailey. However, Mr. Bailey’s return to work note from his physician did not mention the cervical strain or the nerve impingement syndrome.

Given the above deficiencies in the return to work notice, the Circuit Court found that the Appellant failed to provide adequate evidence that he was able to perform the duties of his employment entitling him to reinstatement, as was his burden.

The Court finds that the plaintiff bears the burden of proving that the compensable injury must be similar to the

plaintiff's medical condition when he asks for reinstatement. In other words, the plaintiff may not be off work for an injury, not return to work for an extended period of time, and then demand reinstatement based upon medical evidence which substantially differs from the medical evidence supporting the original compensable injury. In the case at bar, the plaintiff called no medical witnesses. There was no testimony proffered by the plaintiff linking his compensable injuries sustained at work with those listed on the proffered exhibits. As such, the jury would be left only to speculate whether the plaintiff's release to return to work deals with the compensable injury or a noncompensable injury.

(Final Order at 6).

The Appellant is not entitled to reinstatement where the only medical evidence he provides to the Appellee (after nearly two years since he reached maximum degree of medical improvement) does not adequately address whether he has recovered from his injuries related to his compensable at-work accident. To rule otherwise would open the door too wide to abuse of the system.

For instance, Mr. Bailey, when he reached his maximum degree of medical improvement, did not come back to work because he told his employer that he had not yet been released by his personal physician. (Tr. Vol 1, p. 109). SCSM relied on this statement and permitted Mr. Bailey to remain off work and did not terminate him until eighteen months later, when it became clear that his period of disability was not determinable. He then submitted the above-described note from his physician, and asked for reinstatement. Given the contents of the note, SCSM could not tell whether Mr. Bailey had been absent from work for two years because of his carpal tunnel syndrome (a non-compensable injury) or one of his compensable injuries. If Mr. Bailey had not been released by his doctor to return to work for two years due to a non-compensable injury

such as carpal tunnel syndrome, then he clearly would have no right to reinstatement upon recovering from that injury, as it was outside of the workers' compensation system. An employee cannot be permitted to flaunt the system in this way.

Furthermore, an employer is entitled to know whether an employee who seeks reinstatement is capable of performing the duties of his employment. The note provided by Mr. Bailey says nothing concerning some of Mr. Bailey's compensable injuries, injuries SCSM was led to believe were the cause of Mr. Bailey's inability to work. SCSM was entitled to know whether those permanent injuries had subsided to the extent that Mr. Bailey could perform his duties. Instead, SCSM was left with an inconclusive and confusing note which did nothing to help SCSM determine whether or not it had a duty under the law to reinstate Mr. Bailey.

Accordingly, the Court recognized that the jury could not find SCSM guilty of workers' compensation discrimination in violation of W. Va. Code § 23-5A-3(b) without evidence sufficient for the jury to conclude that Mr. Bailey had properly invoked a duty of the part of SCSM to reinstate him to his former employment. Given the above argument, the Court clearly made the correct decision in determining that "the jury would be left only to speculate whether the plaintiff's release to return to work deals with the compensable injury or a noncompensable injury." (Final Order at 6).

Notwithstanding the Circuit Court's ruling, judgment as a matter of law in favor of the Appellee on the Appellant's reinstatement discrimination claim is proper on alternative grounds as well. W. Va. Code § 23-5A-3(b) contemplates an application for reinstatement when an employee reaches his maximum degree of medical improvement. An employee may not delay the assertion of his rights under this section for nearly three

years after having reached his maximum degree of improvement, as Appellant did here, and then seek to be reinstated to his former employment.

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